RECEIVED

Feb 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Steven C. Kirven, Master in Equity

**Case No. 2016-CP-04-00443
Appellate Case No. 2020-000890**

Vicki Littlefield Respondent

v.

Paul W. Cromer, Jr., individually and d/b/a Paul Cromer, Inc.Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PRUITT & PRUITT

s/ Joshua B. Raffini
Joshua B. Raffini
SC Bar No. 101338
101 North Murray Avenue
Anderson, South Carolina 29625
(864) 224-3121
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court err in Allowing Allegations of Tortious Misconduct to Substitute for Evidence of Contractual Intent?
2. Did the Trial Court Err in Refusing to Afford Cromer Credit for Losses that were Bad Debts within the Meaning of the Note?
3. Did the Trial Court Err in Allowing the Statute of Limitations to Prevent Calculation of the Correct Amount Due Pursuant to the Language of the Note?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff (hereinafter “Littlefield”) initiated this suit based on alleged breach of a 2007 Promissory Note. Defendant Paul W. Cromer, Jr. (hereinafter “Cromer”) executed the Note on behalf of Paul Cromer, Inc. and also provided a personal guarantee of that instrument. (R. p. 172, Plaintiff’s Ex. 1). The original holder of the Note, Charles H. Whitfield, died prior to this action. (R. p. 91). At the time she initiated this action, Littlefield was the holder of the Note having inherited it from her Mother, Helen Whitfield, who had previously inherited the Note from her husband Charles Whitfield. Littlefield brought additional causes of action seeking Accounting and for additional damages based on tort theories of recovery. The named Defendants were Paul Cromer, Inc., as Maker of the Note, and Cromer, based on his personal guarantee. Cromer answered, denying that any amounts were due under the Note, asserting Counterclaims based on an alleged partnership with Charles Whitfield, and averring that he had overpaid the Note pursuant to its terms.

Following extensive discovery, the parties agreed to refer the entire matter to the Master in Equity for final disposition (R. p. 15, Order of Reference). Pursuant to the

Order of Reference, incorporating the agreement of the parties, Littlefield dismissed her fourth and fifth causes of action seeking tort-based recovery. *Id.*

The matter proceeded to trial before the Honorable Steven C. Kirven, Master in Equity for Anderson County, on September 24, 2019. R. p. 59. Following a day-long trial, the Court invited the parties to submit additional arguments to the Court. R. p. 269. Both parties availed themselves of the opportunity to fully brief their positions. R. p. 32; p. 41. On April 17, 2020, the Trial Court issued its Final Order finding in favor of Littlefield and awarding judgment in the amount of \$257,073.00. R. p. 1. The Trial Court also awarded Littlefield, and her counsel, attorney's fees in the amount of \$56,868.52. *Id.* On April 21, 2020 Defendants filed their Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend. R. p. 55. The Trial Court denied Defendants' Motion by Form 4 Order on May 26, 2020. R. p. 12. Defendants' counsel received notice of the Trial Court's Order denying their Motion on May 26, 2020, and this appeal followed on June 16, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A breach of contract claim is an action at law. *Barnacle Broad., Inc., v. Baker Broad., Inc.*, 343 S.C. 140, 146, 538 S.E.2d 672, 675 (Ct.App.2000). In an action at law tried without a jury, "our scope of review extends merely to the corrections of errors of law." *Id.* Therefore, [the]... court will not disturb the trial court's findings unless they are found to be without evidence that reasonably supports those findings. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). *South Carolina Elec. & Gas Co. v. Hartough*, 654 S.E.2d 87, 375 S.C. 541 (S.C. App. 2007).

"An action for an accounting is an action in equity. Accordingly, '[the] court may review the record and make findings in accordance with ... [its] own view of the preponderance of the evidence.'" *Consignment Sales Llc v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. 266, 705 S.E.2d 73, 76-77 (Ct.App. 2011) (citing *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 427, 673 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2009))

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Cromer had been engaged in the used-car loan business with Charles Whitfield for many years. R. p. 89. Cromer executed a promissory note (the "Note") in the principal amount of \$800,000.00 in favor of Charles H. Whitfield on or about January 1, 2007. R. p. 272. Pursuant to the terms of the Note, Cromer would make payments of principal and interest on said Note with interest payable semi-annually and calculated on the basis of an even (50/50) division of profits on car loans during the year less an equal (50/50) division of any bad debts on such car loans. *Id.* It was undisputed at trial that

Cromer and Mr. Whitfield, the original holder of the Note, had operated in a business relationship on essentially the same terms as outlined in the Note for many years prior to execution of the Note. R. p. 223. Charles Whitfield died on or about March 24, 2008 and apparently devised his interest in the Note to his wife, Helen D. Whitfield. Helen D. Whitfield died on February 25, 2012, and apparently devised her interest in the Note to her daughter Vicki Littlefield, the Plaintiff in this action. R. p. 92.¹

At trial, the testimony of the parties and witnesses- together with certain stipulations of counsel- demonstrated a number of undisputed facts. Cromer originally owed Charles H. Whitfield the principal sum of \$800,000.00 due on the Note. R. p. 272. Cromer made total payments of principal in the amount of \$450,000.00. R. p. 92. Cromer made regular interest payments on the Note as required by the terms of said Note through at least 2013. R. p. 127. Cromer made additional payment to Helen Whitfield in the amount of \$258,855.75 from proceeds he obtained as the survivor of a joint bank account he held with Charles Whitfield. R. pp. 109-110. The parties stipulated that Cromer was entitled to these funds as the surviving account holder. R. p. 75.

During the business arrangement envisioned pursuant to the Note, Cromer incurred substantial losses due to loans made to Darrell Massey or his business Massey Motors. R. p. 275. Cromer obtained a judgment against Massey in the amount of \$282,142.00, no part of which has ever been paid. R. p. 284. The losses on loans to Mr. Massey arose out of Defendant's business relationship with Charles Whitfield and the car loan business envisioned by the terms of the Note. R. p. 110. Helen Whitfield,

¹ Documentation regarding ownership of the Note, or the probate estates of previous holders, was not introduced at trial but is not challenged on appeal.

together with Littlefield, was aware of and participated in efforts to collect on the bad debts associated with loans to Mr. Massey R. p. 110. Littlefield or her predecessors claimed the losses attributable to bad debts from loans to Darrell Massey on their federal tax returns. R. p. 151; p. 393. The parties did, however, dispute responsibility for the losses incurred due to business dealings with Mr. Massey.

Cromer and Charles Whitfield both employed Darrell Hardy as their accountant for many years. R. p. 112. Mr. Hardy admitted that during the course of business between the parties he had not reconciled amounts due on the Note until specifically requested to do so. R. pp. 175-176. On that basis, expert witness testimony at trial involved calculation of interest, payments, and remaining amounts due pursuant to the Note, if any. R. pp. 125-131; pp. 185-186. While the parties were in agreement as to most facts as stated, the parties did dispute the amount of principal and interest, if any, still due under the Note. The parties did not dispute that Cromer incurred substantial losses from loans to Darrell Massey, although the parties disputed whether Cromer was entitled to any credits for these bad debts. ²

ARGUMENT

Cromer has paid all amounts due on the Note, including repayment of all principal and interest. In holding to the contrary, the Trial Court found that alleged misconduct by Cromer- characterized as deviation from business practices- prevented offset of payments against previously uncredited bad debt losses. Indeed, once interest is calculated to account for deduction of bad debts from the amount due, Cromer overpaid

² Indeed, Plaintiff's expert agreed, based on a hypothetical question posed to him that if Cromer was entitled to credit for the Massey losses that the debt under the Note would have been paid in full and no further interest would have accrued after 2013. R pp. 159-160.

the amount due pursuant to the Note.³ The problematic nature of recovery was evident before Cromer was ever served, as Plaintiffs sought to incorporate allegations of fraud against Cromer in his business practices.⁴ Proof of fraud was lacking, evidence of negligence ambiguous, but either way evidence presented as to that point was and remains wholly irrelevant to the remaining contract-based causes of action. The Court below compounded the erroneous exclusion of calculated losses by finding such losses would have also been excluded by the applicable statute of limitations. However, Littlefield waived the statute of limitations by asking the Court to construe the Note to determine the amounts due and account for all financial transactions associated with the Note, specifically invoking Massey as part of her request for Accounting. This Court should REVERSE the judgment below and direct entry of judgment that the Note has been fully satisfied. In the alternative, to the extent proper calculation is not possible based on the existing record, this Court should REVERSE the judgment below and REMAND for a calculation of the amount due, if any, upon proper consideration of credit for losses attributable to bad debts.

3 The testimony presented by both parties was congruent on this point. Plaintiff's expert admitted that the so-called "Massey losses" were bad debts, as agreed by Defendant's expert and the Defendant. R. pp. 148-149. The only remaining question for the Court is whether there is any legal basis for disregarding such bad debts in calculating the amounts allegedly owed on the Note.

4 The Summons and Complaint included two causes of action based on theories of fraudulent misconduct related to an "insolvent dealer" identified at trial as a Mr. Massey relative to what the parties' called the "Massey losses." R. p. 17. Plaintiff later abandoned recovery based on such alleged misconduct, agreeing to dismiss both causes of action related to fraud as part of the Order of Reference. R. p. 15.

1. The Trial Court erred in Allowing Allegations of Tortious Misconduct to Supplant Evidence of Contractual Intent

The Court need not question the intent of the contracting parties in the primary terms of their agreement. They provided their intent to calculate payments based on accounting for both profits and bad debts in the Note.⁵ In overlooking that intent, in favor of discounting bad debts based on alleged misconduct, the Trial Court erred.

If Cromer is entitled to credit for bad debts in calculating interest due under the Note, and more specifically the Massey losses, then Whitfield's case fails as the Note has been fully satisfied. Not surprisingly, Whitfield expended considerable energy at trial devoted to allegations of fault for such losses. Whitfield's position was that the Defendant should not receive credit for these losses based on one of two theories: first, allegations of breach of duty or fault on the part of the Defendant, referred to alternatively as negligence, gross negligence, or misconduct; or, second, breach of the duty of good faith. Neither argument withstood scrutiny and the Cromer is entitled to credit for bad debts under the Note.⁶

a. Allegations of Fraud or Negligence are Irrelevant in this Contract Action.

Whitfield, having initiated this case and as master of her complaint, chose to pursue recovery based on contract law. Whitfield originally pled allegations of fraud and bad faith but voluntarily dismissed those causes of action at the time of the Order of

⁵ R. p. 272.

⁶ Pursuant to the Note, admitted as Plaintiff's Exhibit #1, the interest rate on the note was calculated whereby the "Maker [Cromer] agrees to pay on the principal sum...a sum equal to fifty percent (50%) of the profits on car loans during each calendar year, minus fifty percent (50%) of the bad debts on car loans." Neither the Note itself nor other contemporaneous documents between the parties provide any additional definitions or guidance on the business relationship between the parties or calculation of such bad debts.

Reference in this matter. While Cromer questioned and still has significant doubts that Whitfield would have been able to prove fraud or bad faith, it is beyond dispute that no causes of action remained for trial that would allow recovery based on anything other than contract law. Indeed, the irrelevance of negligence or fraud-based principles to this contract case is axiomatic.⁷

To further illustrate, Defendant would direct the Court to principles of election of remedies. In *Brown v. Felkel*, the Court of Appeals confronted allegations that the Plaintiff in that case had waived any tort-based recovery when he proceeded first on contract theories.⁸ In *Brown*, the Plaintiff brought two separate actions arising out of the same background facts seeking to recover for both breach of contract and professional negligence. Brown first obtained judgment based on the contract at issue in the case in a separate lawsuit. Later, Brown sought judgment based on tort theories and the trial court awarded actual and punitive damages over the Defendant's directed verdict motion. In reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeals agreed with Defendant that the election to proceed with a contract case foreclosed subsequent recovery based on tort theories.⁹ While that case involved two separate lawsuits, the principle is the same. The Plaintiff here elected to pursue recovery based on contract. Allegations of negligence or other tort-based theories for recovery, or calculation of damages, are irrelevant.¹⁰

7 Cromer acknowledges that the Trial Court specifically found that it was not basing its ruling on findings of tortious conduct. R. p. 4 (Final Order). However, Cromer's position at trial and on appeal has been consistent: such a finding was required to use Cromer's conduct to defeat calculation of bad debts. While the Trial Court declined this specific finding, the Order below is still premised on findings related to Cromer's conduct.

8 320 S.C. 292, 465 S.E.2d 93 (Ct.App. 1995).

9 *Id.* at 95.

10 In this case, the Trial Court specifically found that there was not a "double redress", citing *Finkel*. Respectfully, that missed Appellant's point on this issue. While dual theories may have also risked a double

In this case, Whitfield could have elected to pursue recovery- and calculation of damages- based on pleading and proof of fraud. Whitfield originally did so but subsequently dismissed causes of action related to fraud and bad faith.¹¹ Furthermore, Whitfield could have elected to attempt proof of breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act.¹² While Cromer maintains that Whitfield would have been unable to prove such tort claims, or other theories of fraud, the Plaintiff failed to pursue recovery on that basis, failed to prove facts sufficient to allow recovery on that basis, and is precluded from recovery or calculation of damages based on these tort theories.

b. There is no Proof of Bad Faith

Similarly, Whitfield appeared to object to inclusion of bad debts based on bad faith.¹³ Whitfield was correct in one particular: good faith (and fair dealing) is an implied element of every contract. However, this undisputable point of law has no application absent proof of bad faith. Black’s Law Dictionary defines bad faith as “the opposite of ‘good faith,’ generally implying or involving actual or constructive fraud, or a design to mislead or deceive another, or a neglect or refusal to fulfill some duty or some contractual obligation, not prompted by an honest mistake as to one’s rights or duties, but by some interested or sinister motive.”¹⁴ As indicated by the very definition, actual bad faith reeks of the same fraud that the Plaintiff dismissed from her pleadings and failed to

recovery, the larger point remains that electing a remedy requires proof sufficient to sustain damages alleged under that theory. In dismissing the possibility of tort recovery, Littlefield foreclosed recovery based on her theory of misconduct that may have been relevant, albeit unproven, in pursuing recovery by other means.

11 See Order of Reference filed December 10, 2018.

12 See, e.g., *Perry v. Green*, 313 S.C. 250, 437 S.E.2d 150 (Ct.App. 1993).

13 Whitfield relied on this theory in her testimony, putting before the Court her belief that Cromer had a responsibility to safeguard property associated with the business set forth in the Note that he violated in his dealings with Massey. R. pp. 106-107. Whitfield was similarly dependent on alleging bad faith in further explaining her position post-trial. R. p. 32 (Plaintiff’s Post Trial Memorandum).

14 Black’s Law Dictionary Revised 4th Ed. (1968).

prove in any event. Even assuming, without admitting, that Cromer was somehow negligent- or even grossly so- the elements of fraud are beyond the most far-reaching and favorable interpretation of trial evidence here. Of course, Whitfield had the burden of proof. As such, allegations of bad faith failed as a matter of law for the same reason that Whitfield's tort-based recovery fails: the absence of pleading to allow for such relief and the failure of proof to sustain it.¹⁵

The record reflects that the parties agreed that Cromer sustained substantial losses due to business transactions with Mr. Massey. Their agreement, however, is limited to the fact of the losses as trial testimony diverged as to the reason for the losses and application to the amounts due under the Note.¹⁶ The parties also agreed that Cromer had previously sustained losses in his dealings with Mr. Massey, which Cromer alone testified had been "made right." R. p. 142. Inasmuch as the decision of the Court below turned, in part, on the course of conduct under the Note, the judgment is silent on this aspect of trial testimony. More specifically, in the volatile use car lending business bad debts were apparently common, as the parties had previously experienced such bad debts and accounted for such losses pursuant to the Note. To attribute so substantial a degree of fault to Cromer for his business relationship with someone who had previously addressed a business dispute to his satisfaction implies that he should have anticipated the

15 Cromer acknowledges that the Trial Court declined to make a finding of misconduct. *See* FN7, *supra*. However, in incorporating theories of Cromer's conduct to support its findings, the Trial Court implicitly found what it implicitly failed to do: that Cromer's misconduct prevented calculation of amounts due under the Note from inclusion of bad debts.

16 Littlefield's testimony reflects her belief that Cromer gave away title to all vehicles which made these bad debts uncollectable. R. p. 106. In Contrast, Cromer testified that Mr. Massey had titles to some vehicles that were eventually sold without payment, as identified in his records. R. p. 227 (Defendant's Exhibit #7). Cromer also detailed how the nature of his business could allow the vehicle in question to be sold by fraudulent conduct of a third-party alone. R. p. 222.

fraud of another party. Respectfully, that finding makes little sense in light of the entire history of business relationships at issue in this case.¹⁷ The parties could have elected to specify, in greater detail, their business procedures but declined to do so. The parties might have specified which types of bad debts should be included in the envisioned payment calculations, to the extent they sought to further clarify that term. They did neither. Hindsight may suggest the value of a more detailed agreement, or changes to a long-standing business relationship. However, “[a] Court must enforce an unambiguous contract according to its terms regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or the parties’ failure to guard their rights carefully.”¹⁸

c. The Trial Court Erred in Characterizing Allegations of Misconduct as Damages Beyond Contractual Contemplation

The intention of contracting parties is of paramount importance when Courts are called upon to construe agreements and effectuate the intent of the parties. Indeed,

The primary concern of the court interpreting a contract is to give effect to the intent of the parties. The best evidence of the parties' intent is the contract's plain language.

N. Am. Rescue Prods., Inc. v. Richardson, 411 S.C. 371, 378, 769 S.E.2d 237 (S.C. 2015) (citing *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 512, 517, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2014))

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