THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Steven C. Kirven, Master in Equity
Case No: 2020-CP-04-00443

Appellate Case No. 2020-000890

RECEIVED

Dec 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Vicki Littlefield.....Respondent,

v.

Paul W. Cromer, Jr., individually and d/b/a Paul Cromer, Inc.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Wallace K. Lightsey (S.C. Bar No. 6476)
Meliah Bowers Jefferson (S.C. Bar No. 74064)
WYCHE, P.A.
Post Office Box 728
Greenville, SC 29602-0728
(864) 242-8200

Attorneys for Respondent Vicki Littlefield

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court's judgment in favor of Ms. Littlefield should stand because Mr. Cromer has failed to note any material error of law or unsupported factual finding made in this case. Instead, he simply misrepresents the evidence in the record, disregards his own testimony regarding the alleged losses prior to Ms. Littlefield's demand for payment on the Note, and interposes illogical arguments that have no basis in the trial court's actual conclusions. This appeal is wholly without merit and the Court should affirm the Master-in-Equity's rulings in this case.

I. The trial court correctly determined that Mr. Cromer was liable to Ms. Littlefield for his breach of the promissory note.

Mr. Cromer asserts that he has fully paid the Note and that the Master-in-Equity committed error by failing to afford him credit for the amounts he allegedly loss on the Massey Account. This argument is not supported by the evidence.

The following facts are undisputed:

- The principal amount due on the Note was \$800,000.
- The Note required interest payments until the principal amount of the Note was fully repaid.
- The interest payments were due on a semi-annual basis and calculated as half of the profits on the car loans minus half of the bad debts on car loans during each calendar year.
- Mr. Cromer made cash payments against the principal in the total amount of \$450,000.
- Mr. Cromer paid Ms. Whitfield the proceeds of an account he held jointly with Mr. Whitfield in the amount of \$258,856, and Ms. Littlefield stipulated to this amount as an additional payment toward the principal of the Note despite Mr. Cromer's admission that Mr. Whitfield had deposited all of the funds held in the account.
- Mr. Cromer filed a verified complaint against the Masseys on December 31, 2008, in which he asserted that it was his normal business practice to provide inventory financing for cars and hold the title until such time as the borrower paid off the loan for the car but that he failed to follow his normal business practice with the Masseys, which resulted in his inability to fully collect amounts due from the Masseys.

- Mr. Cromer received a judgment against the Masseys in April of 2009 but failed to execute on the judgment.
- Mr. Cromer paid the interest amounts as required on the Note until 2013, without any deduction for the alleged losses on the Massey account.

See supra, pp. 2-5.

At trial, Mr. Cromer and his expert witness gave inconsistent and conflicting testimony regarding the nature of the business relationship between Mr. Cromer and Mr. Whitfield, the intentions of the parties in entering into the Note, and the amounts that should be credited against the Note including the historical treatment of the alleged losses on the Massey account. (R. pp. 184-91; 221-35). Mr. Cromer and his expert testified that Mr. Cromer and Mr. Whitfield were partners in the used car inventory financing business and the Note reflected their intent to split all the profits and losses on the business. *Id.* They further testified that that they continued to treat the relationship as a partnership in Mr. Cromer's dealings with Ms. Whitfield after Mr. Whitfield's death. *Id.* However, neither Mr. Cromer nor his expert provided any evidence corroborating their testimony. They also presented multiple and significantly varying calculations of the amounts paid by or credited to Mr. Cromer on the Note. *Id.* For example, they initially contended that Mr. Cromer paid income taxes on the interest amounts paid on the Note. However, Mr. Cromer's corporate and individual tax returns showed that no such taxes were ever paid. *Id.* Mr. Cromer sought credit against the Note for a Mercedes vehicle given to Ms. Whitfield but failed to acknowledge his receipt of a Corvette from Ms. Whitfield. *Id.* Additionally, the judgment against the Masseys amounted to \$282,142 but Mr. Cromer sought a \$200,914 credit on the Note, almost \$60,000 more than he would have been entitled to credit against the Note had the master accepted his arguments regarding his entitlement to credit for half of the losses. *Id.*

In contrast, Ms. Littlefield testified that her father's involvement with Mr. Cromer's business ended when he retired and that he only maintained an investment in Mr. Cromer's

business as set forth in the Note. (R. pp. 88-91; 104; 111). Mr. Cromer's own business records supported Ms. Littlefield's testimony in that his accounts reflected a 50/50 split of profits and losses until the execution of the Note in January of 2007. (R. pp.235-251; 300-306). Thereafter, his business records only showed the payment of interest as provided in the Note. *Id.* Ms. Littlefield also presented expert witness testimony. However, unlike Mr. Cromer's expert, Dr. Alford's testimony was consistent with the evidence in the case. (R. pp. 124-53). Specifically, Dr. Alford did not find any evidence of an ongoing partnership as Mr. Cromer contended. *Id.* He also noted that Mr. Cromer's business records never reflected the alleged losses from the Massey account – Mr. Cromer's records showed extensive calculations of the interest payments made on the Note but none of the records included deduction from the principal or interest due on the Note due to the Massey losses. *Id.* The only documents produced by Mr. Cromer reflecting a credit for the Massey losses are documents created after Ms. Littlefield demanded payment. *Id.* Given the consistency between the testimony provided by Ms. Littlefield and Dr. Alford and the other evidence in the case, the master found them to be more credible.

Based on this record, the master found that Mr. Cromer was liable to Ms. Littlefield under the terms of the Note for the unpaid principal and unpaid interest without any credit for losses Mr. Cromer incurred in his dealings with the Masseys. (R. pp. 3-9). In making this determination, the master referenced *Kline Iron & Steel Co. v. Superior Trucking Co. Inc.*, 261 S.C. 542, 201 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1973), for the proposition that the amount of “damages recoverable for a breach of contract are those which follow as a natural consequence of the breach or which may reasonably be supposed to have been within the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract was entered into.” (R. p. 10). Applying this proposition to the evidence at trial, the court found that the purported losses on the Massey Account were beyond the contemplation of the parties and that Mr. Cromer's calculation of the interest on the Note year over year through 2013 reflected the

parties' intent to exclude from the Note losses incurred outside the normal course of business, such as the losses on the Massey Account. (R. p. 5). As stated by the court, "[i]t would be an absurd interpretation of the Note to believe that Mr. Whitfield would loan \$800,000 to Defendants and anticipate that they would effectively give away over \$280,000 of inventory by handing over titles to cars for which they admittedly received no payment." *Id.* Therefore, the master's reliance on *Kline* was appropriate and the record supports his conclusion that neither party intended the Massey losses to be included in the interest calculation.

Mr. Cromer argues nothing in his appeal to refute these facts or legitimately challenge the legal conclusions of the trial court. Accordingly, the Order should be affirmed.

II. The trial court appropriately denied Mr. Cromer's request to deduct from the amounts owed to Ms. Littlefield losses he purportedly incurred on the Massey Account.

Mr. Cromer further contends that the trial court erred in failing to credit the losses he incurred on the Massey Account in determining the amount due on the Note. Mr. Cromer specifically complains that the trial court should have included the Massey Account losses as "bad debts" under the Note. Mr. Cromer's arguments are without merit.

In construing a contract, as the Master-in-Equity was called upon to do in this case, the court's primary objective is to determine and give effect to the parties' intentions. *See RentCo., a Div. of Fruehauf Corp. v. Tamway Corp.*, 283 S.C. 265, 321 S.E.2d 199 (Ct. App. 1984). The court will look first to the language of the contract to ascertain the parties' intentions. *See Jacobs v. Service Merchandise Co.*, 297 S.C. 123, 375 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 1988). If its contract language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, the contract's language alone determines the its force and effect. *See Jordan v. Security Group, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 428 S.E.2d 705 (1993).

A contract is considered ambiguous when the terms are reasonably susceptible of more than one meaning. *See Hawkins v. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 592, 493 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing 17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 338, at 345 (1991)). The court must determine whether the language of a contract is ambiguous. *Id.* Once the court finds ambiguity, it may look to other evidence to ascertain the intent of the parties. *Id.* Then, the determination of the parties' intent is a question of fact. *Id.*

Here, the Note allowed for the deduction of "bad debts" from profits on the car loans in calculating the interest amount due in a given year, but the Note did not define "bad debts." The parties disputed the types of losses that could be deducted as a bad debt and the master recognized that Mr. Cromer's arguments at trial regarding deductions for the Massey Account losses actually deviated from his historical treatment of the amounts. Therefore, the court was required to resolve the dispute as to the meaning of "bad debts," which was not apparent from the face of the Note.

Noticeably, Mr. Cromer does not provide any citation to authority or evidence that the master failed to consider in resolving the dispute regarding the intent of the parties with respect to the meaning of "bad debts." Rather, Mr. Cromer argues that the court made improper findings based on negligence or fraud-based principles. However, this argument is a red herring. The master expressly declined to make any findings related to tortious conduct by Mr. Cromer and explicitly noted that his conclusions were based on Mr. Cromer's own testimony regarding his handling of accounts and his treatment of the Massey losses in calculating the interest payments prior to Ms. Littlefield's demand.

Mr. Cromer's citation to *Brown v. Felkel*, 320 S.C. 292, 465 S.E.2d 93 (Ct. App. 1995), is also unavailing. While Ms. Littlefield's Complaint initially included tort allegations, she only proceeded on her contractual claims at trial and the master only granted relief based on principles of contract law. The most cursory review of the Order and the record reflect this treatment of the

case by the master. Therefore, Mr. Cromer's reference to *Brown* is perplexing, because he asks this Court to review findings and conclusions never actually made by the trial court.

At bottom, Mr. Cromer wants this Court to substitute its factual findings for those of the trial court. However, he has failed to point to any error in law or any factual finding that is unsupported by the record. Were the Court to indulge Mr. Cromer and make its own factual findings, the record includes compelling evidence that Mr. Cromer defaulted on the Note and only sought to use the losses on the Massey account to avoid liability for Ms. Littlefield's payment demand, a position at odds with the historical relationship of the parties, with Mr. Cromer's own conduct, and with the evidence concerning the meaning of "bad debts." Accordingly, the Court should affirm the judgment below.

III. The trial court properly applied the statute of limitations in denying Mr. Cromer any recovery on his counterclaim.

Lastly, Mr. Cromer complains that the Master-in-Equity committed error in finding his counterclaim to be untimely. Although Mr. Cromer now seeks to recast his counterclaim as an affirmative defense for setoff or recoupment against his liability under the Note, he never pleaded it as an affirmative defense and never limited recovery under his counterclaim to the amounts he owed to Ms. Littlefield under the Note. It was only in the context of his claim for affirmative relief that the master barred Mr. Cromer's counterclaim under the applicable statute of limitations, which is entirely permissible.³

³ "A recoupment, unlike a counterclaim, only reduces the plaintiff's claim; it does not allow recovery of an affirmative money judgment for any excess over that claim." *Tuloka Affiliates, Inc. v. Moore*, 275 S.C. 199, 202, 268 S.E.2d 293 (1980). Recoupment is a "defense arising out of some feature of the transaction upon which the plaintiff's action is grounded." *Rothensies v. Elec. Storage Battery Co.*, 329 U.S. 296 (1946). "Unlike set-off, [recoupment] must grow out of the identical transaction that gave rise to the plaintiff's claim." *Tuloka*, 275 S.C. at 202, 268 S.E.2d at 295. A recoupment defense only allows the defendant "to cut down or diminish the claim of the plaintiff in consequence of his failure to comply with some provision of the contract sought to be

South Carolina Code of Laws § 15-3-530(1) provides a three-year statute of limitations for an action upon “a contract, obligation, or liability.” “Under ‘the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered.’” *CoastalStates Bank v. Hanover Homes of S.C., LLC*, 408 S.C. 510, 517, 759 S.E.2d 152, 156 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996)).

Mr. Cromer was aware of the losses on the Massey account when the Masseys failed to pay him by the end of 2008, and he unequivocally was aware of the alleged loss when judgment was entered in his favor against the Masseys in April 2009. Yet, Mr. Cromer did not report the purported losses on his corporate or individual tax returns, did not record the losses in the settlement book reflecting the interest amounts owed under the Note, did not deduct any amounts from the interest payments remitted under the Note, and did not assert any legal action against Ms. Littlefield or the prior Note holders until pleading his counterclaim on March 25, 2016. At that point, the losses on the Massey account were seven or eight years old, well beyond the limitations period provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. Given Mr. Cromer’s request for an affirmative judgment against Ms. Littlefield, the master simply made clear that Mr. Cromer’s efforts to have Ms. Littlefield pay him on the counterclaim was barred by the statute of limitations.

Mr. Cromer argues without citation to any authority that Ms. Littlefield waived her right to assert the statute of limitations as a defense to the counterclaim simply by requesting an accounting. As previously explained, Ms. Littlefield’s cause of action for an accounting is a misnomer. The relief she sought through her Complaint was merely entry of a judgment in the amount Mr. Cromer owed under the Note. But, more importantly, the trial court never actually prevented Mr. Cromer from asserting any right to recoupment or reduction in the balance owed to

enforced, or because he has violated some duty imposed upon him by law in the making or performance of that contract.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

Ms. Littlefield due to the losses on the Massey Account. Instead, the master rejected Mr. Cromer's characterization of the losses as "bad debts" under the terms of the Note. (R. p. 4) ("The court further finds that the language of the Note . . . does not allow for recovery as alleged by [Mr. Cromer], nor does it allow them to reduce the Plaintiff's recovery to zero."). Mr. Cromer's claims failed, not because of any limitations period, but because they were squarely contradicted by the evidence presented at trial. Therefore, the trial court did not err in barring the counterclaim based on the statute of limitations.

CONCLUSION

Regardless of how he spins the facts and record in this case, Mr. Cromer cannot avoid liability for his breach of the Note held by Ms. Littlefield. She presented reliable evidence supporting her claim for the principal and interest due to her under the Note. The trial court rightly dismissed Mr. Cromer's evidence for lack of credibility. Therefore, Mr. Cromer categorically failed to prove his entitlement to any credit for the Massey Account losses.

The Master-in-Equity did not commit any reversible error in law and his factual findings are well-supported by the evidence. For these reasons, the Court should affirm the judgment in favor of Ms. Littlefield in the amount of \$313,941.53 plus accrued interest on the judgment and additional attorney's fees and costs as allowed under the Note.